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the reasonable time and the manner of
correction for a person seeking safe
harbor protection from criminal liabil-
ity under 49 U.S.C. 30170(a).

[81 FR 10527, Mar. 1, 2016]

§578.3 Applicability.

This part applies to civil penalties
for violations of Chapters 301, 305, 323,
325, 327, 329, and 331 of Title 49 of the
United States Code or a regulation pre-
scribed thereunder. This part applies to
civil penalty factors under section
30165(c) of Title 49 of the United States
Code. This part also applies to the
criminal penalty safe harbor provision
of section 30170 of Title 49 of the United
States Code.

[81 FR 10527, Mar. 1, 2016]

§578.4 Definitions.

All terms used in this part that are
defined in sections 30102, 30501, 32101,
32702, 32901, and 33101 of Title 49 of the
United States Code are used as defined
in the appropriate statute.

Administrator means the Adminis-
trator of the National Highway Traffic
Safety Administration.

Civil penalty means any non-criminal
penalty, fine, or other sanction that:

(1) Is for a specific monetary amount
as provided by Federal law, or has a
maximum amount provided for by Fed-
eral law; and

(2) Is assessed, compromised, col-
lected, or enforced by NHTSA pursuant
to Federal law.

NHTSA means the National Highway
Traffic Safety Administration.

Person means any individual, cor-
poration, company, limited liability
company, trust, association, firm, part-
nership, society, joint stock company,
or any other entity.

Respondent means any person charged
with liability for a civil penalty for a
violation of sections 30112, 30115, 30117
through 30122, 30123(a), 30125(c), 30127,
30141 through 30147, or 30166 of Title 49
of the United States Code or a regula-
tion prescribed under any of those sec-
tions.

[62 FR 5169, Feb. 4, 1997, as amended at 65 FR
81419, Dec. 26, 2000; 81 FR 10528, Mar. 1, 2016]

§578.6

§578.5 Inflationary adjustment of civil
penalties.

The civil penalties set forth in this
part continue in effect until adjusted
by the Administrator. The Adminis-
trator shall review the amount of these
civil penalties annually and will, if ap-
propriate, adjust them by rule.

[83 FR 60753, Nov. 27, 2018]

§578.6 Civil penalties for violations of
specified provisions of Title 49 of
the United States Code.

(a) Motor vehicle safety—(1) In general.
A person who violates any of sections
30112, 30115, 30117 through 30122,
30123(a), 30125(c), 30127, or 30141 through
30147 of Title 49 of the United States
Code or a regulation in this chapter
prescribed under any of those sections
is liable to the United States Govern-
ment for a civil penalty of not more
than $24,423 for each violation. A sepa-
rate violation occurs for each motor
vehicle or item of motor vehicle equip-
ment and for each failure or refusal to
allow or perform an act required by
any of those sections. The maximum
civil penalty under this paragraph
(a)(1) for a related series of violations
is $122,106,996.

(2) School buses. (i) Notwithstanding
paragraph (a)(1) of this section, a per-
son who:

(A) Violates section 30112(a)(1) of
Title 49 United States Code by the
manufacture, sale, offer for sale, intro-
duction or delivery for introduction
into interstate commerce, or importa-
tion of a school bus or school bus
equipment (as those terms are defined
in 49 U.S.C. 30125(a)); or

(B) Violates section 30112(a)(2) of
Title 49 United States Code, shall be
subject to a civil penalty of not more
than $13,885 for each violation. A sepa-
rate violation occurs for each motor
vehicle or item of motor vehicle equip-
ment and for each failure or refusal to
allow or perform an act required by
this section. The maximum penalty
under this paragraph (a)(2)(i)(B) for a
related  series of violations is
$20,827,441.

(38) Section 30166. A person who vio-
lates Section 30166 of Title 49 of the
United States Code or a regulation in
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this chapter prescribed under that sec-
tion is liable to the United States Gov-
ernment for a civil penalty for failing
or refusing to allow or perform an act
required under that section or regula-
tion. The maximum penalty under this
paragraph (a)(3) is $24,423 per violation
per day. The maximum penalty under
this paragraph (a)(3) for a related series
of daily violations is $122,106,996.

(4) False and misleading reports. A per-
son who knowingly and willfully sub-
mits materially false or misleading in-
formation to the Secretary, after certi-
fying the same information as accurate
under the certification process estab-
lished pursuant to Section 30166(o) of
Title 49 of the United States Code,
shall be subject to a civil penalty of
not more than $5,978 per day. The max-
imum penalty under this paragraph
(a)(4) for a related series of daily viola-
tions is $1,195,707.

(b) National Automobile Title Informa-
tion System. An individual or entity vio-
lating 49 U.S.C. Chapter 305 is liable to
the United States Government for a
civil penalty of not more than $1,949 for
each violation.

(c) Bumper standards. (1) A person
that violates 49 U.S.C. 32506(a) is liable
to the United States Government for a
civil penalty of not more than $3,198 for
each violation. A separate violation oc-
curs for each passenger motor vehicle
or item of passenger motor vehicle
equipment involved in a violation of 49
U.S.C. 32506(a)(1) or (4)—

(i) That does not comply with a
standard prescribed under 49 U.S.C.
32502; or

(ii) For which a certificate is not pro-
vided, or for which a false or mis-
leading certificate is provided, under 49
U.S.C. 32504.

(2) The maximum civil penalty under
this paragraph (c) for a related series of
violations is $3,561,551.

(d) Consumer information—(1) Crash-
worthiness and damage susceptibility. A
person who violates 49 U.S.C. 32308(a),
regarding crashworthiness and damage
susceptibility, is liable to the United
States Government for a civil penalty
of not more than $3,198 for each viola-
tion. Each failure to provide informa-
tion or comply with a regulation in
violation of 49 U.S.C. 32308(a) is a sepa-
rate violation. The maximum penalty

49 CFR Ch. V (10-1-22 Edition)

under this paragraph (d)(1) for a related
series of violations is $1,744,386.

(2) Consumer tire information. Any per-
son who fails to comply with the na-
tional tire fuel efficiency program
under 49 U.S.C. 32304A is liable to the
United States Government for a civil
penalty of not more than $66,191 for
each violation.

(e) Country of origin content labeling.
A manufacturer of a passenger motor
vehicle distributed in commerce for
sale in the United States that willfully
fails to attach the label required under
49 U.S.C. 32304 to a new passenger
motor vehicle that the manufacturer
manufactures or imports, or a dealer
that fails to maintain that label as re-
quired under 49 U.S.C. 32304, is liable to
the United States Government for a
civil penalty of not more than $1,949 for
each violation. Each failure to attach
or maintain that label for each vehicle
is a separate violation.

(f) Odometer tampering and disclosure.
(1) A person that violates 49 U.S.C.
Chapter 327 or a regulation in this
chapter prescribed or order issued
thereunder is liable to the United
States Government for a civil penalty
of not more than $11,956 for each viola-
tion. A separate violation occurs for
each motor vehicle or device involved
in the violation. The maximum civil
penalty under this paragraph (f)(1) for
a related series of violations is
$1,195,707.

(2) A person that violates 49 U.S.C.
Chapter 327 or a regulation in this
chapter prescribed or order issued
thereunder, with intent to defraud, is
liable for three times the actual dam-
ages or $11,956, whichever is greater.

(g) Vehicle theft protection. (1) A per-
son that violates 49 U.S.C. 33114(a)(1)-
(4) is liable to the United States Gov-
ernment for a civil penalty of not more
than $2,627 for each violation. The fail-
ure of more than one part of a single
motor vehicle to conform to an appli-
cable standard under 49 U.S.C. 33102 or
33103 is only a single violation. The
maximum penalty under this para-
graph (g)(1) for a related series of viola-
tions is $656,665.

(2) A person that violates 49 U.S.C.
33114(a)(b) is liable to the United States
Government for a civil penalty of not
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more than $195,054 a day for each viola-
tion.

(h) Automobile fuel economy. (1) A per-
son that violates 49 U.S.C. 32911(a) is
liable to the United States Government
for a civil penalty of not more than
$45,973 for each violation. A separate
violation occurs for each day the viola-
tion continues.

(2) Except as provided in 49 U.S.C.
32912(c), a manufacturer that violates a
standard prescribed for a model year
under 49 U.S.C. 32902 is liable to the
United States Government for a civil
penalty of $15 (for model years before
model year 2019, the civil penalty is
$5.50; for model years 2019 through 2021,
the civil penalty is $14), multiplied by
each .1 of a mile a gallon by which the
applicable average fuel economy stand-
ard under that section exceeds the av-
erage fuel economy—

(i) Calculated wunder 49 U.S.C.
32904(a)(1)(A) or (B) for automobiles to
which the standard applies produced by
the manufacturer during the model
year;

(ii) Multiplied by the number of those
automobiles; and

(iii) Reduced by the credits available
to the manufacturer under 49 U.S.C.
32903 for the model year.

(3) If a higher amount for each .1 of a
mile a gallon to be used in calculating
a civil penalty under paragraph (h)(2)
of this section is prescribed pursuant
to the process provided in 49 U.S.C.
32912(c), the amount prescribed may
not be more than $29 for each .1 of a
mile a gallon.

[81 FR 43528, July 5, 2016, as amended at 83
FR 60753, Nov. 27, 2018; 84 FR 36034, July 26,
2019; 84 FR 37078, July 31, 2019; 86 FR 1763,
Jan. 11, 2021; 86 FR 3026, Jan. 14, 2021; 86 FR
23259, May 3, 2021; 87 FR 15872, Mar. 21, 2022;
87 FR 19007, Apr. 1, 2022]

§578.7 Criminal safe harbor provision.

(a) Scope. This section sets forth the
requirements regarding the reasonable
time and the manner of correction for
a person seeking safe harbor protection
from criminal liability under 49 U.S.C.
30170(a)(2), which provides that a per-
son described in 49 U.S.C. 30170(a)(1) is
not subject to criminal penalties there-
under if:

(1) At the time of the violation, such
person does not know that the viola-

§578.7

tion would result in an accident caus-
ing death or serious bodily injury; and

(2) The person corrects any improper
reports or failure to report, with re-
spect to reporting requirements of 49
U.S.C. 30166, within a reasonable time.

(b) Reasonable time. A correction is
considered to have been performed
within a reasonable time if the person
seeking protection from criminal 1li-
ability makes the correction to any
improper (i.e., incorrect, incomplete,
or misleading) report not more than
thirty (30) calendar days after the date
of the report to the agency and cor-
rects any failure to report not more
than thirty (30) calendar days after the
report was due to be sent to or received
by the agency, as the case may be, pur-
suant to 49 U.S.C. 30166, including a
regulation, requirement, request or
order issued thereunder. In order to
meet these reasonable time require-
ments, all submissions required by this
section must be received by NHTSA
within the time period specified in this
paragraph, and not merely mailed or
otherwise sent within that time period.

(c) Sufficient manner of correction.
Each person seeking safe harbor pro-
tection from criminal penalties under
49 U.S.C. 30170(a)(2) must comply with
the following with respect to each im-
proper report and failure to report for
which safe harbor protection is sought:

(1) Sign and submit to NHTSA a
dated document identifying:

(i) Each previous improper report
(e.g., informational statement and doc-
ument submission), and each failure to
report as required under 49 U.S.C. 30166,
including a regulation, requirement,
request or order issued thereunder, for
which protection is sought, and

(ii) The specific predicate under
which the improper or omitted report
should have been provided (e.g., the re-
port was required by a specified regula-
tion, NHTSA Information Request, or
NHTSA Special Order).

(2) Submit the complete and correct
information that was required to be
submitted but was improperly sub-
mitted or was not previously sub-
mitted, including relevant documents
that were not previously submitted, or,
if the person cannot do so, provide a
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